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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN JOSE DIVISION

In re MAXIM INTEGRATED
PRODUCTS, INC. DERIVATIVE
LITIGATION

This Document Relates To:

ALL ACTIONS.

No. 5:06-cv-03344-JW

CORRECTED SECOND AMENDED
VERIFIED CONSOLIDATED
SHAREHOLDER DERIVATIVE
COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by the undersigned attorneys, submit this Second Amended Verified Consolidated
Shareholder Derivative Complaint (the “Complaint”) against the defendants named herein.

NATURE AND SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. This is a shareholders’ derivative action brought by Plaintiffs City of Pontiag

Policemen’s and Firemen’s Retirement System, Eugene Horkay, Jr., and Elias Corey derivatively on
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behalf of nominal defendant Maxim Integrated Products, Inc. (“Maxim” or the “Company”) against
its Board of Directors (the “Board”) and certain of its current and former executive officers seeking
to remedy Defendants’® breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, and violations of the federal
securities and California corporation laws.

2. Beginning in 1994, and continuing through the end of 2006, Defendants engaged in a
secret scheme to grant undisclosed, in-the-money? stock options to themselves and others by
backdating stock option grants to coincide with historically and relatively low closing prices of
Maxim’s common stock. In fact, in a striking pattern, Defendants regularly granted options on or
within three days of the lowest closing price of a given year, quarter, and/or month in which the
options were granted. Indeed, thirty-two of the thirty-seven stock option grants (more than 86%)
made to Defendants from 1994 through the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”) in
August 2002 (which was intended in part to curb the ability of corporate insiders to falsify the dateg
on which they received valuable stock options by imposing more stringent reporting and disclosurg
requirements) were deliberately backdated. In a striking pattern, during this nine year time period,
four times Defendants received stock options that were backdated to or within three days of the
lowest closing price of a given year; eight times to or within three days of the lowest closing price of

a given quarter; and thirteen times to or within three days of the lowest closing price of the month,

! The “Defendants” are John F. Gifford (“Gifford”), Frederick G. Beck (“Beck”), Carl W. Jasper
(“Jasper”), Tunc Doluca (“Doluca”), Pirooz Parvarandeh (“Parvarandeh”), Richard C. Hood
(“Hood™), Vijaykumar Ullal (“Ullal’”), Nasrollah Navid (“Navid”), Kenneth Huening (“Huening”),
Viktor Zekeriya (“Zekeriya”), Rob B. Georges (“Georges™), Charles G. Rigg (“Rigg”), Christopher
J. Neil (“Neil”), Edwin Medlin (“Medlin”), Michael J. Byrd (“Byrd”), James R. Bergman
(“Bergman”), A.R. Frank Wazzan (“Wazzan”), B. Kipling Hagopian (“Hagopian”), Alan Hale
(“Hale”), Ziya G. Boyacigiller (“Boyacigiller’), Parviz Ghaffaripour (“Ghaffaripour”), William
Levin (“Levin”), Robert Scheer (“Scheer”), Laszlo Gal (“Gal”), Eric Karros (“Karros), Sharon
Smith-Lenox (“Smith-Lenox™); M.D. Sampels (“Sampels”); David M. Timm (“Timm”); Matthew
J. Murphy (*“Murphy”); and Jennifer Gilbert (“Gilbert”).

2 “In-the-money” refers to when the exercise price of a stock option is below the market price of the
underlying stock.
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Moreover, these insider grants were made on two annual low dates, four quarterly low dates, and
eight monthly low dates.

3. In total, at least forty-four of the fifty-seven (more than 77%) option grants totaling
more than 19.5 million stock options to Defendants between 1994 and 2006, inclusive, werg
deliberately backdated. Five times Defendants received stock options that were backdated to of
within three days of the lowest closing price of a given year; eleven times to or within three days of
the lowest closing price of a given quarter; and sixteen times to or within a day of the lowest closing
price of the month in which the grants were purportedly made. Included in these grants are threg
annual lows, five quarterly lows, and nine monthly lows. This scheme was in direct violation of the
clear and unambiguous terms and conditions of Maxim’s shareholder-approved stock option plans by
granting stock options with exercise prices that were not equal to the fair market value of Maxim’s
stock on the date of the grant, or the day immediately preceding the date of the grant.

4, By engaging in this scheme, Defendants were able to conceal that Maxim was not
recording material compensation expenses and was materially overstating the Company’s publicly
reported net income and earnings. While in possession of material nonpublic information
concerning Maxim’s backdating scheme, Defendants sold over 20 million shares of Maxim common
stock, realizing unlawful insider trading proceeds of over $637, no less than $220 million of which
was realized through the exercise and subsequent sale of illegally backdated options grants. By
contrast, Maxim has suffered, and will continue to suffer, significant financial and non-monetary
damages and injuries, several of which were identified in a report issued by the Center for Financial
Research and Analysis on May 16, 2006, entitled “Options Backdating — Which Companies Are af
Risk?”:

e SEC investigation risk — The SEC has begun information
investigations at many companies in recent months and has also
begun to call for improved disclosures around all areas of

executive compensation.

e Accounting restatement risk — Some companies which have
admitted backdating options have accompanied those admissions
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with financial restatements impacting both the balance sheet and
earnings.

e Tax/Cash implications — The change in options from the practice
of options backdating may force some companies to restate tax
positions for the years in question, which could result in an
obligation to pay back taxes.

e Management credibility risk — If a reputable management team is
found to have repeatedly backdated options, thereby enriching
themselves at the expense of shareholder, the reputation of

management (and the related stock premium for superior
management) could take a hit.

5. Defendants’ backdating scheme not only surreptitiously and illegally lined
Defendants’ pockets and caused Maxim to issue materially false financial statements, buf
undermined the key purpose of stock option-based executive compensation, i.e., to provide
Defendants with the incentive to improve the Company’s performance, and to increase the
Company’s stock price and market capitalization. By manipulating options such that they carried a
strike price lower than the trading price of the stock on the date of grant, Defendants profited
immediately upon the award of the options without doing anything to improve the Company’s
business or financial condition.

6. In sum, as alleged in detail herein, in gross breach of their fiduciary duties as officers

and/or directors of Maxim, Defendants colluded with one another to:

a. improperly backdate several grants of Maxim stock options to each
and every one of the Defendants, in violation of the Company’s
shareholder-approved stock option plans;

b. improperly record and account for the backdated stock options, in
violation of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”);

C. improperly take tax deductions based on the backdated stock options,
in violation of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26
U.S.C. § 162(m) (“Section 162(m)”);

d. produce and disseminate to Maxim shareholders and the market false
financial statements and other false SEC filings that improperly
recorded and accounted for the backdated option grants and concealed
the improper backdating of stock options; and
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e. improperly and in bad faith seek shareholder approval of amendments
to the various stock option plans as well as approval of the adoption of
the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.

7. On September 6, 2006, the United States Senate Committee on Finance held a hearing
on “Executive Compensation: Backdating to the Future/Oversight of current issues regarding
executive compensation including backdating of stock options; and tax treatment of executive
compensation, retirement and benefits.” At the Senate Finance Committee Hearing, the Senate
Finance Committee Chairman, Senator Chuck Grassley, in his opening statement, stated: “[Options
backdating] is behavior that, to put it bluntly, is disgusting and repulsive. It is behavior that ignores
the concept of an *honest day’s work for an honest day’s pay’ and replaces it with a phrase that we
hear all too often today, ‘I’m going to get mine.” . . . [S]hareholders and rank-and-file employees
were ripped off by senior executives who rigged stock option programs — through a process called
‘back-dating’ — to further enrich themselves. And as we have found far too often in corporatg
scandals of recent years, boards of directors were either asleep at the switch, or in some cases,
willing accomplices themselves. . . .”

8. By this action, Plaintiffs seek to remedy Defendants’ egregious misconduct, which
has caused Maxim to sustain millions of dollars in damages and additional injury.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

0. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1331 in that this
Complaint states a federal question. This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1332(a)(2) in that Plaintiffs and Defendants are citizens of different states and the matter in
controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.  This Court has supplemental
jurisdiction over the state law claims asserted herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). This action is
not a collusive one to confer jurisdiction on a court of the United States which it would not otherwise
have.

10. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial portion of the transactions and

wrongs complained of herein, including the Defendants’ primary participation in the wrongful actg
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detailed herein, occurred in this District. One or more of the Defendants either resides in of
maintains executive offices in this District, and Defendants have received substantial compensation
in this District by engaging in numerous activities and conducting business here, which had an effect
in this District.

PARTIES

11. Plaintiff City of Pontiac Policemen’s and Firemen’s Retirement System is, and wag
during the relevant period, a shareholder of nominal defendant Maxim. Plaintiff City of Pontiag
Policemen’s and Firemen’s Retirement System is a citizen of the State of Michigan. Plaintiff City of]
Pontiac Policemen’s and Firemen’s Retirement System acquired Maxim stock on January 6, 2004,
and has held Maxim stock continuously to the present, including at the time Plaintiff City of Pontiag
Policemen’s and Firemen’s Retirement System filed its initial complaint.

12. Plaintiff Eugene Horkay, Jr. is, and was during the relevant period, a shareholder off
nominal defendant Maxim. Plaintiff Horkay is a citizen of the State of South Carolina. Plaintiff
Horkay acquired Maxim stock on April 12, 2001, and has held Maxim stock continuously to the
present, including at the time Plaintiff Horkay filed his initial complaint.

13. Plaintiff Elias Corey is, and was during the relevant period, a shareholder of nominal
defendant Maxim. Plaintiff Corey is a citizen of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Plaintiff
Corey acquired Maxim stock on July 29, 1988, and has held Maxim stock continuously to the
present, including at the time Plaintiff Corey filed his initial complaint.

14. Nominal defendant Maxim is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive
offices located at 120 San Gabriel Drive, Sunnyvale, California 94086. Maxim designs, develops,
manufactures, and markets linear and mixed-signal integrated circuits, commonly referred to as
analog circuits. At all relevant times hereto, the Company had more than 500 shareholders of record
and assets worth more than $1 million. Nominal defendant Maxim is a citizen of the States of

California and Delaware.
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15. Defendant Gifford co-founded the Company in 1983 and served as President, Chief
Executive Officer ("CEQO") and Chairman of the Board of Maxim from 1983 until his recent
resignation in 2006. For the years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant Gifford’s salary
and bonuses under the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Gifford reported
$3,222,300.00 in salary and $19,868,993.00 in bonuses. Defendant Gifford was granted a grand total
of 10,502,233 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $229,664,768 in
insider sales. Defendant Gifford is a citizen of the State of California.

16. Defendant Jasper served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer ("CFQO") and Vice
President of Maxim from April 1999 until his recent resignation from the Company in 2007,
Previously, Jasper served as Maxim’s Principal Accounting Officer from May 1998 to April 1999,
Defendant Jasper was granted a grand total of 375,000 stock options during his tenure with the
Company, and recorded $812,980 in insider sales. Defendant Jasper is a citizen of the State of
California.

17. Defendant Beck co-founded the Company in 1983 and has served as Vice President of
Maxim from 1983 to November 1991 and from February 1994 until the present. For the years in
which Maxim was required to report Defendant Beck’s salary and bonuses under the applicablg
Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Beck reported $1,851,346.00 in salary and
$1,015,276.00 in bonuses. Defendant Beck was granted a grand total of 979,667 stock optiong
during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $31,237,420 in insider sales. Defendant Beck is a
citizen of the State of Arizona.

18.  Defendant Hood, is a co-founder of Maxim and has served as Vice President from
February 1997 until the present. For the years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant
Hood’s salary and bonuses under the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation,
Hood reported $1,457,500.00 in salary and $1,410,615.00 in bonuses. Defendant Hood was granted
a grand total of 865,880 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded

$29,456,162 in insider sales. Defendant Hood is a citizen of the State of California.
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19. Defendant Doluca replaced Gifford as the President and CEO of Maxim on January 1,
2007. Previously, Doluca served as Group President of Maxim from May 2005 until assuming the
roles of President and CEO. Doluca joined Maxim in 1984 and served as Vice President from 1994
to 2005. Doluca was promoted to Senior Vice President in 2004 until his promotion to Group
President in May 2005 of the Company. In addition to assuming the roles of President and CEO,
Doluca was also appointed as a director of the Company effective January 1, 2007.  For the years in
which Maxim was required to report Defendant Doluca’s salary and bonuses under the applicablg
Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Doluca reported $2,259,712.00 in salary and
$5,349,435.00 in bonuses. Defendant Doluca was granted a grand total of 3,160,000 stock optiong
during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $37,678,180 in insider sales. Defendant Doluca is
a citizen of the State of California.

20. Defendant Hale currently serves as the Company’s interim CFO, replacing defendant
Jasper. Previously, Hale served as a Vice President of the Company since April 2001 when Dallag
Semiconductor Corporation (“DSC”) merged with and into the Company. Prior to April 2001, Halg
served as Vice President and CFO of DSC. For the years in which Maxim was required to report
Defendant Hale’s salary and bonuses under the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission
regulation, Hale reported $423,721.00 in salary and $180,000.00 in bonuses. Defendant Hale was
granted a grand total of 291,566 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded
$8,637,547 in insider sales. Defendant Hale is a citizen of the State of Colorado.

21. Defendant Parvarandeh has served as Group President of Maxim since May 2005,
Parvarandeh joined Maxim in July 1987 and served as Vice President from 1997 to 2005. He served
as Senior Vice President of Maxim from 2004 until April 2005. For the years in which Maxim was
required to report Defendant Parvarandeh’s salary and bonuses under the applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission regulation, Parvarandeh reported $1,707,500.00 in salary and $3,970,514.00

in bonuses. Defendant Parvarandeh was granted a grand total of 2,013,333 stock options during his
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tenure with the Company, and recorded $42,377,510 in insider sales. Defendant Parvarandeh is g
citizen of the State of California.

22. A Defendant Ullal has served as Senior Vice President of Maxim since 2004. Ullal
joined Maxim in December 1989 and served as Vice President from 1996 to 2004. For the years in
which Maxim was required to report Defendant Ullal’s salary and bonuses under the applicablg
Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Ullal reported $925,000.00 in salary and
$1,381.435.00 in bonuses. Defendant Ullal was granted a grand total of 1,675,890 stock optiong
during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $37,832,739 in insider sales. Defendant Ullal is a
citizen of the State of California.

23. Defendant Navid has served as Vice President of Maxim since May 1997 Defendant
Navid was granted a grand total of 440,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company.
Defendant Navid is a citizen of the State of California.

24, Defendant Huening has served as Vice President of Maxim since December 1993,
For the years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant Huening’s salary and bonuses under
the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Huening reported $781.612.00 in
salary and $784,451.00 in bonuses. Defendant Huening was granted a grand total of 1,328,788 stock]
options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $31,773,797 in insider sales. Defendant
Huening is a citizen of the State of California.

25. Defendant Zekeriya has served as Vice President of Maxim since March 2005,
Zekeriya has been employed by Maxim in various capacities since June 1992. Defendant Zekeriya
was granted a grand total of 215,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded
$1,774,300 in insider sales. Defendant Zekeriya is a citizen of the State of California.

26. Defendant Georges has served as Vice President of Maxim since June 2000. Georges
has been employed by Maxim in various capacities since June 1983. Defendant Georges was
granted a grand total of 257,970 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded

$4,155,588 in insider sales. Defendant Georges is a citizen of the State of California.
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27. Defendant Rigg has served as Vice President of Maxim since April 1999. Rigg
previously served as Managing Director and General Counsel of Maxim from August 1996 until
April 1999. Defendant Rigg was granted a grand total of 409,291 stock options during his tenurg
with the Company, and recorded $12,080,300 in insider sales. Defendant Rigg is a citizen of the
State of California.

28. Defendant Byrd served as a director of Maxim from 2003 until his resignation from
the Board on August 29, 2007. Byrd also served as Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial
Officer at Maxim from 1994 to 1999. From 2001 until 2003, Byrd served as President and Chief]
Operating Officer of Brocade (“Brocade”), and served as Vice President of Finance and Operationg
and Chief Financial Officer at Brocade from 1999 until 2001. Brocade, which restated its financial
results twice in 2005 after an internal probe found widespread problems with its options grants
dating back to at least mid-1999, has been under investigation by the SEC and the U.S. Attorney for
the Northern District of California for at least a year as a result of its options granting practices. Fon
the years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant Byrd’s salary and bonuses under the
applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Byrd reported $402,115.00 in salary and
$197,362.00 in bonuses. Defendant Byrd was granted a grand total of 458,000 stock options during
his tenure with the Company, and recorded $21,660,228 in insider sales. On August 17, 2007, the
SEC filed a complaint against Byrd alleging civil fraud charges in connection with his role in the
backdating scheme at Brocade. Defendant Byrd is a citizen of the State of California.

29. Defendant Bergman has served as a director of Maxim since 1988. Bergman has
served as a member of both the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation
Committee”) and the Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) since at least 1994
until the present. Defendant Bergman was granted a grand total of 80,000 stock options during his
tenure with the Company, and recorded $14,426,140 in insider sales. Defendant Bergman is a citizen

of the State of California.
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30.  Defendant Wazzan has served as a director of Maxim since 1990. Wazzan has served
and as a member of both the Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee since at least 1994
until the present. Defendant Wazzan was granted a grand total of 56,000 stock options during his
tenure with the Company, and recorded $12,640,109 in insider sales. Defendant Wazzan is a citizen
of the State of California.

31. Defendant Hagopian has served as a director of Maxim since March 1997, and
currently serves as the Company’s interim Chairman of the Board, a position that he assumed upon
the retirement of defendant Gifford. Previously, Hagopian served as a director of the Company from
May 1983 through November 1989. Hagopian has served as a member of the Compensation
Committee from 1997 until the present, and as a member of the Audit Committee from 1997 to
2005. Defendant Hagopian was granted a grand total of 137,000 stock options during his tenure with
the Company, and recorded $8,673,923 in insider sales. Defendant Hagopian is a citizen of the State
of California.

32. Defendant Sampels served as a director of Maxim from 2001 until 2005. Defendant
Samples was granted a grand total of 50,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and
recorded $367,740 in insider sales. Defendant Sampels is a citizen of the State of Colorado.

33.  Defendant Karros served as a director of Maxim from 2000 until 2002. Defendant
Karros was granted a grand total of 16,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company.
Defendant Karros is a citizen of the State of California.

34.  As directors at various times relevant hereto, Gifford, Byrd, Bergman, Wazzan,
Hagopian, Sampels, and Karros approved and/or received backdated stock options at issue in this
case. These Defendants assisted in the preparation of Maxim’s annual and quarterly reports from
1994 through 2006 and prepared, reviewed, and approved the proxy statements that were distributed
to Maxim shareholders from 1994 through 2006, each of them solicited the vote of Maxim
shareholders and falsely represented that Maxim options were granted at fair market value on the

date of grant, in order to conceal the existence of, and their participation in, Defendants’ integrated
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and continuous scheme to backdate (and conceal the backdating of) stock option grants. These
Defendants, with knowledge of the backdating scheme, signed Maxim’s annual and quarterly
financial statements for 1994 until 2006, which materially understated the Company’s compensation
expense and materially understated its annual and quarterly net income.

35. Defendant Boyacigiller served as Vice President of the Company from 1995 until
2000. For the years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant Boyacigiller’s salary and
bonuses under the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Boyacigiller reported
$1,133,204.00 in salary and $1,467,996.00 in bonuses. Defendant Boyacigiller was granted a grand
total of 404,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $36,782,142 in
insider sales. Defendant Boyacigiller is a citizen of the State of California.

36. Defendant Ghaffaripour served as a Vice President of Maxim from 2001 until April
2006, and was employed by the Company in other capacities since 1999. Defendant Ghaffaripoun
was granted 178,100 stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $1,804,376 in
insider sales. Defendant Ghaffaripour is a citizen of the State of California.

37. Defendant Gilbert has served as a Vice President of Maxim since July 2001,
Defendant Gilbert was granted a grand total of 234,000 stock options during her tenure with the
Company, and recorded $4,314,618 in insider sales. Defendant Gilbert is a citizen of the State of
California.

38. Defendant Neil is currently a Vice President of Maxim. Upon information and belief,
Neil began his employment at Maxim in 1996. Defendant Neil was granted a grand total of 431,980
stock options during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $132,000 in insider sales.
Defendant Neil is a citizen of the State of California.

39. Defendant Medlin is currently a Vice President of Maxim. Upon information and
belief, Medlin began his employment at Maxim in 1999. Defendant Medlin was granted a grand
total of 242,318 stock options during his tenure with the Company. Defendant Medlin is a citizen of

the State of California.
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40. Defendant Levin joined Maxim in August 1990 as Vice President. Upon information
and belief, defendant Levin is no longer employed by Maxim. For the years in which Maxim was
required to report Defendant Levin’s salary and bonuses under the applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission regulation, Levin reported $854,569.00 in salary and $289,916.00 in bonuses,
Defendant Levin was granted a grand total of 660,000 stock options during his tenure with the
Company, and recorded $17,699,990 in insider sales. Defendant Levin is a citizen of the State of
California.

41. Defendant Scheer joined Maxim in June 1983 and was promoted to Vice president in
June 1992. Upon information and belief, defendant Scheer is no longer employed by Maxim. For the
years in which Maxim was required to report Defendant Scheer’s salary and bonuses under the
applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulation, Scheer reported $728,183.00 in salary
and $258,139.00 in bonuses. Defendant Scheer was granted a grand total of 1,124,896 stock options
during his tenure with the Company, and recorded $51,737,392 in insider sales. Defendant Scheer is
a citizen of the State of Oregon.

42. Defendant Gal joined Maxim in April 1999 as Vice President. Upon information and
belief, defendant Gal is no longer employed by Maxim. Defendant Gal was granted a grand total of
60,000 stock options during his tenure with the Company. Defendant Gal is a citizen of the State of
California.

43. Defendant Smith-Lenox joined Maxim in October 1999 as the Principal Accounting
Officer. Upon information and belief, defendant Smith-Lenox is no longer employed by Maxim,
Defendant Smith-Lenox was granted a grand total of 40,000 stock options during her tenure with the
Company. Defendant Smith-Lenox is a citizen of the State of California.

44, Defendant Murphy currently serves as a Vice President of Maxim. Upon information
and belief, Murphy began his employment at Maxim in 1998. Defendant Murphy was granted &
grand total of 111,339 stock options during his tenure with the Company. Defendant Murphy is a

citizen of the State of California.
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45. Defendant Timm currently serves as a Vice President of Maxim. Upon information
and belief, Timm began his employment at Maxim in 1997. Defendant Timm was granted a grand
total of 247,357 stock options during his tenure with the Company. Defendant Timm is a citizen off
the State of California.

DUTIES OF MAXIM’S OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

46. By reason of their positions as officers and/or directors of the Company, and because
of their ability to control the business and corporate affairs of the Company, the Defendants owed the
Company and its shareholders the fiduciary obligations of good faith, trust, loyalty, and due care,
Furthermore, Defendants were and are required to use their utmost ability to control and manage the
Company in a fair, just, honest, and equitable manner. Defendants were and are required to act in
furtherance of the best interests of the Company and its shareholders, and not in furtherance of thein
personal interest or benefit. Each director and officer of the Company owes to the Company and it
shareholders the fiduciary duty to exercise good faith and diligence in the administration of the
affairs of the Company and in the use and preservation of its property and assets, and the highest
obligations of fair dealing.

47. Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority as directors and/or
officers of the Company, were able to and did, directly and/or indirectly, exercise control over the
wrongful acts complained of herein.

48.  To discharge their duties, Defendants were required to exercise good faith, loyalty,
and due care in the management of Maxim’s business. By virtue of such duties, the officers and

directors of the Company were required to, among other things:

a. exercise good faith in ensuring that the affairs of the Company
were conducted in an efficient, business-like manner so as to
make it possible to provide the highest quality performance of
their business;

b. exercise good faith in ensuring that the Company was operated
in a diligent, honest and prudent manner and complied with all
applicable federal and state laws, rules, regulations and
requirements, including acting only within the scope of its legal
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authority;

C. exercise good faith in supervising the preparation, filing and/or
dissemination of financial statements, press releases, audits,
reports or other information required by law, and in examining
and evaluating any reports or examinations, audits, or other
financial information concerning the financial condition of the
Company; and

d. exercise good faith in ensuring that the Company’s financial
statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP; and

e. refrain from unduly benefiting themselves and other Company
insiders at the expense of the Company.

49, Likewise, Defendants were responsible for maintaining and establishing adequate
internal accounting controls for the Company and to ensure that the Company’s financial statements
were based on accurate financial information. According to GAAP, to accomplish the objectives off
accurately recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting financial data, a corporation must
establish an internal accounting control structure. Among other things, the Defendants were required

to:

a. make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the issuer; and

b. devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that —

@ transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization;

2 transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in conformity with
[GAAP].

DUTIES OF THE MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

50. At various times relevant hereto, defendants Bergman, Byrd, Hagopian and Wazzan?

served on the Audit Committee, as demonstrated in the table below:

® Robert F. Graham served on the Audit Committee from 1994 through 1997, however Mr. Graham
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

NAME | 1994 | 1995 | 1996 | 1997 | 1998 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005
Bergman* | M M M M M M M M M M M M

Byrd* M
Hagopian* M M M M M M M M M
Wazzan* M M M M M M M M M M M M

M = Member; * = Current Board Member

51. From at least 2000, the Audit Committee operated pursuant to a written charter (the

“Audit Committee Charter”), which provided that:

The Audit Committee shall oversee the accounting and financial
reporting processes of the Company and audits of the financial
statements of the Company and provide assistance to the Board of
Directors of the Company in fulfilling its responsibilities to the
Company’s stock holders with respect to the Company’s outside
auditor and the corporate accounting and reporting practices as well as
the quality and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and

reports.
52. In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee maintained the following
functions:
a. To review, upon completion of the audit, the financial

statements and related notes and the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis proposed to be included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, to discuss those financial statements and
related notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis with
the Company’s management and to make a recommendation to
the Board whether such financial statements should be included
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K;

passed away in 1998, therefore, he is not a named defendant in this action.
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b. To discuss with the independent auditor the results of the
annual audit, including, without limitation, their report and all
matters required to be communicated to the Committee by the
independent auditor in accordance with SAS 61;

C. To evaluate the cooperation received by the independent
auditor during their audit examination, including any
restrictions on the scope of their activities or access to required
records, data and information;

d. To confer with the independent auditor and with the senior
management of the Company regarding the scope, adequacy
and effectiveness of internal accounting and financial reporting
controls in effect;

e. To confer with the independent auditor, and senior
management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that the Audit Committee, the independent auditor, or
senior management believe should be discussed privately with
the Audit Committee; and

f. To consider the independent auditors’ communications
regarding critical accounting policies, alternative treatments of
financial  information and other  material  written
communications between the independent auditors and
management and the effect or potential effect of any regulatory

regime, accounting initiatives or off-balance sheet structures on
the Company’s financial statements.

53. As members of the Audit Committee, Defendants Bergman, Byrd, Wazzan, and
Hagopian had a special duty to know and understand the material information regarding the stock
option grants as they affected the Company’s financial statements as provided for in the Audif
Committee Charter. Accordingly, the members of the Audit Committee knew, that Maxim’g
financial statements were inaccurate and that certain stock option grants were improper.
Nonetheless, the members of the Audit Committee permitted the unlawful practices described herein,
including preparing false reports in the Company’s proxy statements, annual reports, and interim
financial reports, which did not disclose this egregious practice.

DUTIES OF THE MEMBERS OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

54. At various times relevant hereto, Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan
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served on the Compensation Committee of the Maxim Board,* as demonstrated in the table below:

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

NAME | 1994 | 1995 | 1996 | 1997 | 1998 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005

Bergman* | M M M M M M M M M M M M

Hagopian* M M M M M M M M M

Wazzan* M M M M M M M M M M M M

M = Member; * = Current Board Member

55.  According to Maxim’s publicly filed proxy statements, the Compensation Committeg
Is “authorized to approve salaries and incentive compensation for the president and other executive
officers, and to award stock options to employees, consultants and other eligible grantees under the
Company’s stock option plans and performs such other functions regarding compensation as the
Board may delegate.”

56. Despite the existence of this important and vital responsibility, the members of the
Compensation Committee, Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan, actively participated in and approved
the backdating of Maxim stock option grants, thereby allowing Defendants to obtain unreasonablg

and unreported compensation.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Maxim’s Stock Option Plans and Compensation Practices

57. At all relevant times hereto, the Company granted stock options to Defendantg
pursuant to the following stock option plans: (1) the Incentive Stock Option Plan; (2) the 1987

Supplemental Stock Option Plan; (3) the 1988 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan; and (4)

* Robert F. Graham served on the Compensation Committee from 1994 through 1997, however Mr.
Graham passed away in 1998, therefore, he is not a named defendant in this action.
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the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (together the “Stock Plans™), each of which have been approved by
Maxim shareholders.

58. Pursuant to the nondiscretionary terms of each of the shareholder-approved Stock
Plans, Maxim stock options must be granted with an exercise price equal to “fair market value,”
which is defined in as “the closing sale price of the Common Stock for the last market trading day
prior to the date of the determination or on the date of the determination, as determined by the
Administrator at the time of the determination...” in the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.

59. Despite the clear and unambiguous terms and conditions of the shareholder-approved
Stock Plans, however, Defendants granted stock options to themselves and others that had exercise
prices that did not equal 100% of the fair market value of Maxim common stock on the actual date of]
the grant, or the date prior to the actual date of grant. Instead, Defendants granted backdated, on
otherwise manipulated, the price of their stock option awards in direct violation of the shareholder-
approved Stock Plans, and made false and misleading statements to the Company’s shareholders and
the SEC that the stock options were granted in accordance with the clear and unambiguous terms and
conditions of the shareholder-approved Stock Plans.

60. Pursuant to APB 25, the applicable GAAP provision at the time of the foregoing
stock option grants, if the market price on the date of grant exceeds the exercise price of the options,
the company must recognize the difference as an expense.

61. Pursuant to Section 162(m), compensation in excess of $1 million per year, including
gains on stock options, paid to a corporation’s five most highly-compensated officers is tax
deductible only if: (i) the compensation is payable solely on account of the attainment of one or morg
performance goals; (ii) the performance goals are determined by a compensation committeg
comprised solely of two or more outside directors; (iii) the material terms under which the
compensation is to be paid, including the performance goals, are disclosed to shareholders and

approved by a majority of the vote in a separate shareholder vote before the payment of the
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compensation; and (iv) before any payment of such compensation, the compensation committeg
certifies that the performance goals and any other material terms were in fact satisfied.
62. On October 7, 2005, the Company filed with the SEC a Form DEF 14A proxy

statement in which Maxim stated the following:

a. Maxim only grants employee stock options under plans that
have been approved annually by stockholders;

b. Maxim’s stock options have always been granted with an
exercise price equal to the fair market value of Maxim’s stock;
and

C. Maxim has never “re-priced” its stock options.

63. However, despite the Company’s assertions, from 1994 through 2006, the
Compensation Committee (Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan) which, according to the
Company’s 1995-2006 proxy statements, was “responsible for determining salaries, incentives and
other forms of compensation for officers and other employees of the Company and administer[ing]

various incentive compensation and benefit plans,™

with the knowledge and approval of the other
members of the Board, including Defendants Gifford, Sampels, Byrd, and Karros, the Compensation
Committee (Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan) knowingly and deliberately violated the
terms of the Stock Plans, APB 25 and Section 162(m) by knowingly and deliberately exceeding the
Maxim shareholders’ grant of express authority to grant Maxim stock options at specific exercise
prices by backdating grants of stock options to make it appear as though the grants were made on
dates when the market price of Maxim stock was lower than the market price on the actual grant

dates, thereby benefiting the recipients of the backdated options. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a

table that depicts the stock option grants made by Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan, and

® According to the Company’s annual proxy statements, from at least 1999 and until at least 2005,
Gifford served as the sole member of the Interim Option Committee, which was authorized to grant
stock options to Company employees other than directors or officers. The Company’s proxy
statements state that, from 2002 until at least 2005, Gifford was authorized to grant stock options to
non-employee directors and Company employees other than Company officers.
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the stock option recipients to whom the grants were made.

64. The members of the Board who were not on the Compensation Committeg
(Defendants Gifford, Sampels, and Karros) had actual knowledge of the backdating and knew that it
violated the terms of the Stock Plans, ABP 25 and Section 162(m). Gifford and Byrd, and all current
and former members of the Board, all of whom were recipients of backdated options, knew that the
option grants to Defendants were not actually granted on the disclosed grant dates. All of the
members of the Board knew that the publicly reported grant dates and statements that the Company
followed APB 25 and granted options with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of Maxim
stock on the date of grant were false because the grants were in fact backdated, thereby the memberg
of the Board intentionally misled shareholders into thinking that the directors complied honestly with
the shareholder-approved Stock Plans. The entire Board knowingly and deliberately approved the
backdating scheme with knowledge of its consequences, e.g., its effects on Maxim’s financial
statements.

65.  An analysis of stock options awarded to Defendants between 1994 and 2006
demonstrates that Defendants violated clear and unambiguous terms and conditions of the
shareholder-approved Stock Plans by granting stock options with exercise prices that were not equal
to the fair market value of Maxim’s common stock on the date of grant, or the day immediatelyj
preceding the date of grant. Indeed, thirty-two of the thirty-seven grants from 1994 through August
2002 were granted on or within three days of the lowest closing price of Maxim’s common stock in a
given year, quarter, or month. Of these thirty-two grants, four times Defendants received stock
options that were backdated to the day of the lowest closing price of a given year; eight times to the
day of the lowest closing price of a given quarter; and thirteen times to the day of the lowest closing
price of the month in which the grants were purportedly made.

66. Tellingly, on May 22, 2006, the respected Wall Street firm Merrill Lynch published
an analysis of the timing of stock option grants among certain semiconductor and semiconductor

equipment companies that comprise the Philadelphia Semiconductor Index, which report included an
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analysis of the timing of stock option grants at Maxim. Merrill Lynch’s analysis® noted the abnormal
returns on Maxim’s stock option grants and that numerous of the grants were remarkably well timed
to occur at the bottom of a “v” in the Company’s stock price chart. Plaintiffs submit that the Merrill
Lynch report, in conjunction with the pattern of stock option grants at annual, quarterly, and monthly
low stock prices, as presented herein, demonstrate that Defendants deliberately and knowingly
backdated Maxim stock options at all relevant times hereto. A copy of the Merrill Lynch report i
attached hereto as Exhibit B. The chart below demonstrates the remarkable pattern of fortuitous
stock option grants to Defendants from 1994 to 2006, most of which clearly occur at the bottom of g

“v” in the Company’s stock price.

® The Merrill Lynch analysis analyzes the twenty day performance of each option grant reported in
a company’s proxy statements during the relevant backdating period. The analysis also calculates
the annualized return of the option grants at twenty days after the grant and compares that
annualized return with the company’s overall annual return. Plaintiffs’ Counsel have performed a
substantially identical analysis on all fifty-seven known stock option grant dates at Maxim between
1994 and 2006, as demonstrated in § 67 herein.
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Maxim 1994-2006 Stock Option Grants
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67. In addition to the Merrill Lynch report, Plaintiffs have prepared a similar analysis for

all known Maxim stock option grants from 1994 through 2006. The table below indicates for each
known stock option grant: the purported date of grant; the exercise price; the 20-day return on the
exercise price; the annualized return on the exercise price; the annual return on the Company’s stock
price in the respective calendar year; and the amount by which the annualized return on the exercise
price exceeds (or underperforms) the annual return on the Company’s stock price in the respective
calendar year. As the table indicates, an overwhelming majority of stock option grants made
between and including 1994 and 2006 possessed annualized returns that vastly exceeded the return
common shareholders would have experienced had they bought Maxim common stock on January 1

of a given year and sold it on December 31 of that same year.
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Grant Date Exercise 20-Day % | Annualized | Shareholder Excess
Price ($) Increase’ | Return (%) Annual Annualized
Return (%) Return
4/20/94 2.78 20 355 46 309
8/9/94 3.07 20 353 46 307
11/4/94 3.92 -1 -14 46 -60
4/11/95 4.45 29 514 120 394
5/10/95 5.72 1 25 120 -95
8/8/95 7.63 29 514 120 394
10/9/95 8.34 21 371 120 251
11/16/95 8.47 -11 -206 120 -326
7/11/96 6.14 37 665 12 653
7/16/96 5.38 50 905 12 893
8/16/96 7.47 0 7 12 -5
11/19/96 9.5 17 309 12 297
9/4/97 17.61 -1 -9 60 -69
10/28/97 14.53 12 224 60 165
11/13/97 14.78 10 189 60 129
6/18/98 14.06 28 508 27 482
8/13/98 16.53 -6 -112 27 -139
10/9/98 11.97 57 1026 27 999
3/1/99 21.06 19 342 116 226
5/26/99 24.59 32 572 116 456
8/12/99 33.75 7 125 116 9
9/30/99 31.55 10 186 116 70
10/21/99 34.63 18 333 116 217
3/15/00 57.81 9 193 1 183
4/14/00 50.31 19 342 1 341
9/19/00 75.00 -6 -105 1 -106
10/11/00 67.19 -7 -131 1 -132
10/25/00 57.19 3 59 1 58
12/29/00 47.81 26 46 1 460
1/30/01 58.13 -17 -308 10 -317
4/6/01 35.45 52 943 10 933
4/9/01 35.16 47 843 10 833
9/27/01 33.62 39 693 10 683
10/1/01 34.06 43 778 10 768
10/2/01 33.40 63 641 10 631
2/29/02 45.76 19 347 -37 384

" All percentage values are rounded to the nearest whole number.
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Grant Date Exercise 20-Day % | Annualized | Shareholder Excess
Price ($) Increase’ | Return (%) Annual Annualized
Return (%) Return
4/25/02 48.19 5 86 -37 123
10/9/02 21.35 65 1176 -37 1213
10/25/02 33.04 29 523 -37 560
12/31/02 33.04 33 595 -37 632
5/12/03 39.82 -10 -173 51 -223
6/25/03 33.85 11 201 51 150
6/30/03 34.10 133 232 51 181
9/30/03 39.39 14 245 51 194
12/16/03 47.92 14 258 51 207
1/29/04 51.00 2 28 -15 43
5/4/04 45.25 12 216 -15 231
9/17/04 42.40 -1 -20 -15 -5
9/28/04 40.91 6 107 -15 122
11/30/04 40.96 1 26 -15 40
1/4/05 40.19 -2 -31 -15 -16
10/11/05 39.99 -8 -142 -15 -127
8/24/05 42.07 -1 -14 -15 1
11/2/05 35.83 2 36 -15 51
12/30/05 36.24 16 288 -15 302
8/17/06 29.33 6 108 -14 122
11/20/06 32.79 -13 -241 -14 -227

Pre-Sarbanes-Oxley Stock Option Grants at Maxim®

1994 Stock Option Grants
68. In 1994, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated stock options to certain
Defendants on three separate occasions: April 20, August 9, and November 4. The April 20 grant

was made at the lowest price of 1994, while the August 9 and November 4 grants were made at the

® The following stock option grants made prior to the enactment of SOX were specifically
excluded: May 10, 1995 (granted to Defendants Hood); September 4, 1997 (granted to Defendants
Neil and Timm); August 13, 1998 (granted to Defendants Murphy and Neil); August 12, 1999
(granted to Defendant Murphy); and January 30, 2001 (granted to Defendants Beck, Doluca,
Gifford, Hood, Huening, Parvarandeh, Rigg, Scheer, and Ullal).
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fourth-lowest and second-lowest prices of the respective months in which they were made, ag

demonstrated in the following chart:

‘Maxim 1994 Stock Option Grants‘
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69. Defendants began backdating Maxim stock options in 1994 when Defendants
Bergman and Wazzan purportedly granted stock options to Doluca, Gifford, Huening, Levin, Scheer
and Hood on April 20, 1994, with an exercise price equal to $2.78 per share, the lowest closing price
of the entire 1994 calendar year, and the lowest closing price of Maxim common stock from 1994
until the present. At a price of $2.78, the options granted on April 20, 1994 resulted in a 20-dayj
percent rise in value of 20%, which produces an effective annualized return of 355% for the stock
option recipients. In 1994, Maxim shareholders realized a 46% return on their Maxim common

stock. Thus, the annualized return on the stock options dated April 20, 1994 exceeded Maxim’g

actual annual return by 309 percentage points.
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70.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan, had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman, and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its yearly low. Bergman and Wazzan knew
that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date
immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price

violated the Stock Plans.

1994 Calendar Year
April 20, 1994 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Year
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
April 20, 1994 Doluca $2.78 50,000
Hood $2.78 144,000
Gifford $2.78 1,949,312
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Huening $2.78 480,000
Levin $2.78 480,000
Scheer $2.78 844,106

71. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated 130,000 stock options to Parvarandeh on
August 9, 1994, when Maxim’s stock price was at its fourth-lowest closing price of the month. At g
price of $3.07, the options granted on August 9, 1994 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value
of 20%, which produces an effective annualized return of 353% for the option recipients. In 1994,
Maxim shareholders only realized a 46% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the
annualized return on the options dated August 9, 1994 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by
307 percentage points.

72.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its fourth-lowest price of the month. Bergman
and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant
date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.
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Third Quarter of 1994 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of August)
August 9, 1994 - Options Granted at Fourth-Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant
Date

Option Recipient

Adjusted Exercise
Price

Adjusted Number
of Options

August 9, 1994

Parvarandeh

$3.07

130,000

73. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated 64,000 and 170,000 stock options to
Gilbert and Ullal, respectively, on November 4, 1994, when Maxim’s stock price was at its second-
lowest closing price of the month. At a price of $3.92, the options granted on November 4, 1994
resulted in a 20-day percent decrease in value of 1%, which produces an effective annualized return
of -14% for the option recipients. In 1994, Maxim shareholders realized a 46% return on their
Maxim common stock. Although, the annualized return on the options dated August 9, 1994
underperformed Maxim’s actual annual return by 60 percentage points, the selection of the August 9

grant date at the second-lowest price of the month, and immediately preceding a substantial spike in
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the Company’s stock price, demonstrates the continued pattern of granting stock options af
opportunistically low prices at the bottom of a “v.”

74.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its second-lowest price of the month,
Bergman and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the
actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to

a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans.

Fourth Quarter of 1994 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of November)
November 4, 1994 - Options Granted at Second-Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
November 4, 1994 Gilbert $3.92 64,000
Ullal $3.92 170,000
1995 Stock Option Grants
75. In 1995, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated stock options to certain

Defendants on at least four separate occasions: April 11, August 8, October 9, and November 16,
The grants on October 9 and November 16 were granted at the lowest prices of those respective
months, while the April 11 and August 8 grants were made at the third-lowest and fifth-lowest prices

of the respective months in which they were made, as demonstrated in the following chart:

‘Maxim 1995 Stock Option Grants‘
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76. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated 80,000 and 10,000 stock options to Ullal

and Zekeriya, respectively, on April 11, 1995, when Maxim’s stock price was at its third-lowest
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closing price of the month. At a price of $4.45, the options granted on April 11, 1995 resulted in a
20-day percent increase in value of 29%, which produces an effective annualized return of 514% for
the option recipients. In 1995, Maxim shareholders realized a 120% return on their Maxim common
stock. Thus, the annualized return on the options dated April 11, 1995 exceeded Maxim’s actual
annual return by 394 percentage points.

77.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its third-lowest price of the month. Bergman
and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant
date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.

Second Quarter of 1995 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of April)
April 11, 1995 - Options Granted at Third-Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
April 11, 1995 Ullal $4.45 80,000
Zekeriya $4.45 10,000

78. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated 292,000 stock options to Parvarandeh on
August 8, 1995 when Maxim’s stock price was at its fifth-lowest closing price of the month, which
immediately preceded a substantial spike in Maxim’s stock price. At a price of $7.63, the options
granted on August 8, 1995, resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 29%, which produces an
effective annualized return of 514% for the option recipient. In 1995, Maxim shareholders realized a
120% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on the options dated
August 8, 1995 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 394 percentage points.

79.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its fifth-lowest price of the month. Bergman
and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant
date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.

CORRECTED SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDER DERIVATIVE
COMPLAINT
-33-




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

S S T N R N N N T S I N T N e e o N L T S S S
o N o o0 b~ W N P O © 00N oo 0ok~ wN - o

Case 5:06-cv-03344-JW  Document 132  Filed 08/31/2007 Page 34 of 152

Third Quarter of 1995 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of August)
August 8, 1995 - Options Granted at Fifth Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
August 8, 1995 Parvarandeh $7.63 292,000
80. In addition, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated two option grants during

1995 to dates on which Maxim’s stock price was at its monthly low closing price. On October 9,
1995, Defendant Beck purportedly received 160,000 options with an exercise price of $8.34, the
lowest closing price of the month of October 1995. On November 16, 1995, Defendant Gilbert
purportedly received 20,000 options with an exercise price of $8.47 per share, the lowest closing
price of the month of November 1995. At a price of $8.34, the options granted on October 9, 1995

resulted in a 20-day percent decrease in value of 70%, which produces an effective annualized return
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of -1257% for the option recipient. At a price of $8.47, the options granted on November 16, 1995
resulted in a 20-day percent decrease in value of 11%, which produces an effective annualized return
of -206% for the option recipient. In 1995, Maxim shareholders realized a 120% return on their
Maxim common stock. Although, the annualized return on the options dated October 9, 1995 and
November 16, 1995 underperformed Maxim’s actual annual return, the selection of these grant dates
at the lowest prices of the month, and immediately preceding a substantial spike in the Company’y
stock price, demonstrates the continued pattern of granting stock options at opportunistically low
prices at the bottom of a “v.”

81.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its monthly low. Bergman and Wazzan knew
that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date
immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price

violated the Stock Plans.
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Fourth Quarter of 1995 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of October)
October 9, 1995 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month
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Fourth Quarter of 1995 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of November)
November 16, 1995 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
October 9, 1995 Beck $8.34 160,000
November 16, 1995 Gilbert $8.47 20,000
1996 Stock Option Grants
82. In 1996, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated stock options to certain

defendants on four separate occasions: July 11, July 16, August 16, and November 19. The July 16
grant was made at the lowest price of 1996, while the July 11, August 16, and November 19 grants
were made at the ninth-lowest, third-lowest, and fifth-lowest prices of the respective months in

which they were made, as demonstrated by the following chart:
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Maxim 1996 Stock Option Grants

$12.00 1

M,

i '
LA LY

. VL
;

© o o o o Ho o
& o AP P
SV & g
QY Q¥ Q¥ O

© PO HO o o © © © © PO L o Ho O o
O O \Q’Q\Q’ \Q’,\\% ,\\% (99 q\0.) f]>°" \OAQ\Q) n_,\o" ,\\°) \\Q)

PP K P
B - S S o) A @
VARV SRV O RN > Q0 A IR\ R VRN
P FE FE YRS

LTI

83. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated 20,000 stock options to Hood on July
11, 1996, when Maxim’s stock price was at its ninth-lowest closing price of the month. At a price of]
$6.14, the options granted on July 11, 1995 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 37%,
which produces an effective annualized return of 665% for the option recipient. In 1996, Maxim|
shareholders realized a 12% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on
the options dated July 11, 1996 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 653 percentage points.

84.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its ninth-lowest price of the month. Bergman

and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant
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date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.

Third Quarter of 1996 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of July)
July 11, 1996 - Options Granted at Ninth-Lowest Price of Month
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July 11, 1996

Hood

$6.14

20,000

85. Remarkably, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan once again took advantage of the date
on which Maxim’s closing stock price was at its annual low to grant stock options. On July 16,
1996, eleven days after Maxim’s closing price had plummeted by 20% from its July 15 closing price
of $7.28, defendants Bergman and Wazzan purportedly granted defendant Rigg 140,000 stock
options with an exercise price of $5.83 per share. At a price of $5.38, the options granted on July 16,

1996 resulted in a 20-day percent rise in value of 50%, which produces an effective annualized
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return of 905% for the option recipient. In 1996, Maxim shareholders realized a 12% return on their
Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on the options dated July 16, 1996 exceeded

Maxim’s actual annual return by 893 percentage points.

1996 Calendar Year
July 16, 1996 - Options Granted at Ninth-Lowest Price of Year
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Purported Grant
Date

Option Recipient

Adjusted Exercise
Price

Adjusted Number
of Options

July 16, 1996

Rigg

$5.38

140,000

86. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its annual low. Bergman and Wazzan knew

that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date
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immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price
violated the Stock Plans.

87. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated stock options to Doluca, Neil,
Parvarandeh, Ullal, Gifford, Huening, Levin, and Beck on August 16, 1996 when Maxim’s stock
price was at its third-lowest closing price of the month. At a price of $7.47, the options granted on
August 16, 1996, resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 0%, which produces an effective
annualized return of 7% for the option recipients. In 1996, Maxim shareholders realized a 12%
return on their Maxim common stock. Although, the annualized return on the options dated August
16, 1996 slightly underperformed Maxim’s actual annual return, the selection of this grant date at the
third lowest date of the month demonstrates the continued pattern of granting stock options af
opportunistically low prices.

88. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its third-lowest price of the month. Bergman
and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant
date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.
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Third Quarter of 1996 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of August)
August 16, 1996 - Options Granted at Third-Lowest Price of Month
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
August 16, 1996 Doluca $7.47 120,000
Neil $7.47 8,000
Parvarandeh $7.47 128,000
Ullal $7.47 50,128
Gifford $7.47 800,000
Levin $7.47 120,000
Beck $7.47 120,000
Huening $7.47 50,075

89. Defendants Bergman and Wazzan backdated stock options to Beck, Doluca, Hood,
Byrd, Gifford, Huening, and Ullal on November 19, 1996, when Maxim’s stock price was at its fifth-

lowest closing price of the month. At a price of $9.50, the options granted on November 19, 1996
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resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 17%, which produces an effective annualized return
of 309% for the option recipients. In 1996, Maxim shareholders realized a 12% return on thein
Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on the options dated November 19, 1996
exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 297 percentage points.

90. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman and Wazzan had the solg
authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option was granted.,
Bergman and Wazzan approved this grant on a date after the reported grant date and knowingly used
hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at its fifth-lowest price of the month. Bergman
and Wazzan knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant

date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with

a lower price violated the Stock Plans.

Fourth Quarter of 1996 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of November)
November 19, 1996 - Options Granted at Fifth-Lowest Price of Month

$13.00

$12.00

$11.00 -

$10.00

$9.00 -

$8.00

Stock Price Close ($)

$7.00 -

CORRECTED SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDER DERIVATIVE
COMPLAINT
-43 -




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

S S T N R N N N T S I N T N e e o N L T S S S
o N o o0 b~ W N P O © 00N oo 0ok~ wN - o

Case 5:06-cv-03344-JW  Document 132  Filed 08/31/2007 Page 44 of 152

Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
November 19, 1996 Beck $9.50 140,000
Coluca $9.50 160,000
Hood $9.50 48,000
Byrd $9.50 160,000
Gifford $9.50 800,000
Huening $9.50 160,000
Ullal $9.50 80,000

1997 Stock Option Grants

91. In 1997, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian backdated stock options to
certain Defendants on at least two separate occasions: October 28 and November 13, both of which
were made at the lowest price of the month in which they were granted, as demonstrated in the

following chart:

‘Maxim 1997 Stock Option Grants‘
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92. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian purportedly granted stock options to
certain Defendants with exercise prices equal to the lowest closing price of Maxim’s stock in the
months of October and November. On October 28, 1997, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and
Hagopian purportedly granted stock options to Beck, Boyacigiller, Byrd, Doluca, Georges, Gifford,
Hood, Huening, and Navid with an exercise price of $14.53 per share, the closing price of Maxim’s
common stock on October 27, 1997, and the lowest closing price of the month. Maxim’s stock price
plummeted in early November 1997, closing at $14.78 on November 13, 1997. Not surprisingly,
Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan took advantage of Maxim’s stock volatility and
purportedly granted stock options to Defendant Hagopian on November 13.

93. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS
monthly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them
to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual
grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans. At a price
of $14.53, the options granted on October 28, 1997 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of
12%, which produces an effective annualized return of 224% for the option recipients. At a price of
$14.78, the options granted on November 13, 1997 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value off
10%, which produces an effective annualized return of 189% for Defendant Hagopian. In 1997,
Maxim shareholders realized a 60% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized
return on the options dated October 28, 1997 and November 13, 1997 outperformed Maxim’s actual

annual return by 165 and 129 percentage points, respectively.
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Fourth Quarter of 1997 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of October)
October 28, 1997 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month
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Fourth Quarter of 1997 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of November)
November 13, 1997 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month
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Date
Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
October 28, 1997 Beck $14.53 120,000
Boyacigiller $14.53 160,000
Byrd $14.53 160,000
Doluca $14.53 200,000
Georges $14.53 3,080
Gifford $14.53 800,000
Hood $14.53 6,880
Huening $14.53 120,000
Navid $14.53 30,000
November 13, 1997 Hagopian $14.78 40,000

1998 Stock Option Grants
94. In 1998, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian backdated stock options to

certain Defendants on at least two separate occasions: June 18 and October 9. The June 18 grant wag
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made at the lowest price of the second fiscal quarter, while the October 9 grant was made at the

third-lowest price of the month, as demonstrated in the following chart:

‘Maxim 1998 Stock Option Grants‘
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95.  On June 18, 1998, Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan purportedly granted
more than 2.1 million stock options to twelve different recipients with an exercise price of $14.06
per share, the lowest closing price of Maxim common stock in that quarter. On October 9, 1998,
Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan purportedly granted stock options to Hagopian,
Zekeriya, Hale, and Ghaffaripour with an exercise price of $11.97 per share. Importantly,
Ghaffaripour did not join Maxim until March 1999, five months after this purported option grant,
These options were granted one day after Maxim’s stock closed at its lowest value for the 1998

calendar year.
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Second Quarter of 1998 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of June)
June 18, 1998 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Quarter
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Fourth Quarter of 1998 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of October)
October 9, 1998 - Options Granted at Third-Lowest Price of Month
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Date
Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
June 18, 1998 Beck $14.06 120,000
Boyacigiller $14.06 80,000
Byrd $14.06 60,000
Doluca $14.06 1,000,000
Georges $14.06 20,890
Gifford $14.06 600,000
Huening $14.06 60,000
Hood $14.06 39,000
Jasper $14.06 15,000
Levin $14.06 60,000
Navid $14.06 60,000
Parvarandeh $14.06 80,000
October 9, 1998 Hagopian $11.97 5,000
Zekeriya $11.97 30,000
Hale $11.97 31,566
Ghaffaripour $11.94 36,300
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96. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved these grants on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS
near-annual and quarterly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock
Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately
preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the
Stock Plans. At a price of $14.06, the options granted on June 18, 1998 resulted in a 20-day percent
increase in value of 28%, which produces an effective annualized return of 508% for the option
recipients. At a price of $11.97, the options granted on October 9, 1998 resulted in a 20-day percent
increase in value of 57%, which produces an effective annualized return of 1026% for the option
recipients. In 1998, Maxim shareholders realized a 27% return on their Maxim common stock|
Thus, the annualized return on the options dated June 18, 1998 and October 9, 1998 outperformed
Maxim’s actual annual return by 482 and 999 percentage points, respectively.

1999 Stock Option Grants

97. In 1999, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian backdated stock options to
certain Defendants on at least four separate occasions: March 1, May 26, September 30, and October
21. The May 26 grant was made at the lowest price of the second fiscal quarter, and the March 1
grant was made at the third lowest price of the same quarter. In addition, the September 30 grant
was made at the lowest price of that month, and the October 21 grant was purportedly made
immediately before a dramatic increase in the Company’s stock price, as demonstrated by the

following chart:

CORRECTED SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDER DERIVATIVE
COMPLAINT
-51-




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

S S T N R N N N T S I N T N e e o N L T S S S
o N o o0 b~ W N P O © 00N oo 0ok~ wN - o

Case 5:06-cv-03344-JW  Document 132  Filed 08/31/2007 Page 52 of 152

Maxim 1999 Stock Option Grants
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98. In the first two quarters of 1999, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian
purportedly granted stock options with exercise prices equal to or near the lowest closing prices for
the respective months in which the options were purportedly granted. On March 1, 1999, Defendantg
Jasper, Timm, and Ghaffaripour were purportedly granted 80,000, 30,000, and 5,500 stock options,
respectively, with an exercise price of $21.06 per share, which was the second-lowest closing price
of March, 1999. On May 26, 1999, eleven different recipients were purportedly granted more than
1.75 million options with an exercise price equal to $24.59, the lowest closing price the month of
May, 1999, and also the lowest price of the quarter.

99.  The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Hagopian, and Wazzan had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which these stock options werg

granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved these grants on a date after the
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reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS
monthly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them
to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual
grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans. At a price
of $21.06, the options granted on March 1, 1999, resulted in a 20-day increase in value of 19%,
which produces an effective annualized return of 342% for the option recipients. At a price of
$24.59, the options granted on May 26, 1999 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 23%,
which produces an effective annualized return of 572% for the option recipients. In 1999, Maxim|
shareholders realized a 116% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on
the options dated March 3, 1999 and May 26, 1999 outperformed Maxim’s actual annual return by

226 and 456 percentage points, respectively.

First Quarter of 1999
March 1, 1999 - Options Granted at Third-Lowest Price of Quarter
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Second Quarter of 1999
May 26, 1999 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Quarter
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
March 1, 1999 Jasper $21.06 80,000
Timm $21.06 30,000
Ghaffaripour $21.06 5,500
May 26, 1999 Beck $24.59 78,000
Boyacigiller $24.59 104,000
Doluca $24.59 130,000
Gifford $24.59 1,039,998
Huening $24.59 80,000
Hood $24.59 104,000
Navid $24.59 80,000
Neil $24.59 12,000
Parvarandeh $24.59 104,000
Scheer $24.59 104,000
Ullal $24.59 130,000
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100. Later in 1999, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian purportedly granted
stock options to Medlin and Zekeriya on September 30, 1999, with an exercise price equal to $31.55

per share, the lowest closing price of the month of September.

Third Quarter of 1999; (Shaded Region Depicts Month of September)
September 30, 1999 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month
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Date
Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
September 30, 1999 Medlin $31.55 53,600
Zekeriya $31.55 30,000

101. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS

monthly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them
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to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual
grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans. At a price
of $31.55, the options granted on September 30, 1999 resulted in a 20-day percent rise in value of
10%, which produces an effective annualized return of 186% for the option recipients. In 1999,
Maxim shareholders realized a 116% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized
return on the options dated September 30, 1999 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 70
percentage points.

102. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian backdated stock options to two of their
own, Bergman and Hagopian, on October 21, 1999. At a price of $34.63, the options granted on
October 21, 1999 resulted in a 20-day percent increase in value of 18%, which produces an effective
annualized return of 333% for the option recipients. In 1999, Maxim shareholders realized a 116%
return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on the options dated October 21,
1999 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 217 percentage points.

103. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan,
and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them to use the fair market value on the actual
grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date

with a lower price violated the Stock Plans.
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Fourth Quarter of 1999
October 21, 1999 - Options Granted at $34.63
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
October 21, 1999 Bergman $34.63 20,000
Hagopian $34.63 32,000

2000 Stock Option Grants

104. In 2000, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian backdated stock options to
certain Defendants on at least six separate occasions: March 15, April 14, September 19, October 11,
October 25, and December 29. The April 14 grant was made at the lowest price of the second
quarter and the December 29 grant was made at the second lowest price of the fourth quarter, while
the March 15, September 19, and October 25 grants were made at the lowest prices of the respective
months in which they were granted. Furthermore, options granted on October 11 (at the sixth-lowest

price of the month of October), were made at the bottom of a volatile swing on Maxim’s stock price,
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and were made to substantially the same individuals who had received options a few days earlier on
September 19, but at a substantially higher price. The 2000 option grants at Maxim are

demonstrated in the following chart:

‘Maxim 2000 Stock Option Grants‘
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105. On March 15, 2000, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian purportedly
granted 1.1 million stock options to nine different recipients with an exercise price of $57.81 per
share, the lowest closing price of Maxim’s common stock of the month.

106. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itg

monthly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them
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to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual
grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans. At a price
of $57.81, the options granted on March 15, 2000 resulted in a 20-day percent rise in value of 9%,
which produces an effective annualized return of 193% for the option recipients. In 2000, Maxim|

shareholders realized a 1% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized return on the
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options dated March 15, 2000 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 192 percentage points.

First Quarter of 2000 (Shaded Region Depicts Month of March)
March 15, 2000 - Options Granted at Lowest Price of Month |——
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
March 15, 2000 Beck $57.81 60,000
Boyacigiller $57.81 60,000
Doluca $57.81 70,000
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options

Gal $57.81 60,000

Gifford $57.81 600,000

Huening $57.81 60,000

Hood $57.81 70,000

Navid $57.81 60,000

Scheer $57.81 60,000

107. On April 14, 2000, less than a month following the purported March 15, 2000 option
grant, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian once again took advantage of a dramatic dip in
Maxim’s stock price — this time, to a quarterly low closing price — to grant stock options. Defendant
Neil was granted stock options on April 14, 2000, with an exercise price of $50.31 per share. At 4
price of $50.31, the options granted on April 14, 2000 resulted in a 20-day percent rise in value of
19%, which produces an effective annualized return of 342% for the option recipients. In 2000,
Maxim shareholders realized a 1% return on their Maxim common stock. Thus, the annualized
return on the options dated April 14, 2000 exceeded Maxim’s actual annual return by 341 percentage

points.
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Second Quarter of 2000
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Purported Grant Option Recipient Adjusted Exercise Adjusted Number
Date Price of Options
April 14, 2000 Neil $50.31 20,000

108. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS
quarterly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required
them to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the

actual grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans.
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109. On September 19, 2000, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian purportedly
granted stock options with an exercise price of $75.00 per share — the lowest closing price of the
month of September — to not only themselves but also to Defendants Beck, Gifford, Huening,
Parvarandeh, Rigg, and Scheer.

110. The Compensation Committee, Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian had the
sole authority to choose the date and, in fact, did choose the date on which this stock option wag
granted. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian approved this grant on a date after the
reported grant date and knowingly used hindsight to pick the date when Maxim’s stock was at itS
monthly low. Defendants Bergman, Wazzan, and Hagopian knew that the Stock Plans required them
to use the fair market value on the actual grant date or the date immediately preceding the actual
grant date and knew that backdating to a date with a lower price violated the Stock Plans. At a price
of $75.00, the options granted on September 19, 2000 resulted in a 20-day percent decrease in value
of 6%, which produces an effective annualized return of -105% for the option recipients. In 2000,
Maxim shareholders realized a 1% return on their Maxim common stock. Although, the annualized
return on the stock options dated September 18, 2000 underperformed Maxim’s actual annual return
by 106 percentage points, the selection of this grant date at the lowest date of the month, and
immediately preceding a substantial spike in the Company’s stock price, demonstrates the continued

pattern of granting stock options at opportunistically low prices.
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